F CITY 2F

>

o>
(L
X
E

[

POLICE ACCOUNTABIEITY BOARD

POLICE ACCOUNTABILITY BOARD
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA PACKET
Wednesday, September 25, 2024
6:30 P.M.

Board Members

John Moore IlI (Chair) Leah Wilson (Vice-Chair)
Kitty Calavita Juliet Leftwich
Brent Blackaby Joshua Cayetano

Alexander Mozes David Williams

MEETING LOCATION

2020 Milvia Street, Suite 250
Berkeley, CA 94704

Item Description Page
- Health and Safety Protocols for In-Person Meetings of Berkeley 1
Boards and Commissions
2 September 25, 2024 PAB Regular Meeting Agenda 4
4 Minutes for the Regular Meeting of September 11, 2024 10
8 List of PAB Subcommittees 16
9.b.i. Policy Review Report 2023-PR-0001 19
9.b.ii. Policy Review Report 2023-PR-0002 53
9.c. ODPA Memo with the Subject Line “Key Findings and 81

Recommendations of City Gate Police Services’ Report Titled
‘Workload Organizational Study of the Police Department — City of
Berkeley, California’

9.d. Budget & Metrics Subcommittee’s proposed PAB metrics 86




1

Off Agenda Reports
Legislative Updates Relevant to the PAB’s Work
Communications from the Public

No communications to the PAB were received.

89




HEALTH AND SAFETY PROTOCOLS FOR IN-PERSON MEETINGS OF
BERKELEY BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS




Health and Safety Protocols for In-Person Meetings of
Berkeley Boards and Commissions
February 2023

The policy below applies to in-person meetings of Berkeley Boards and Commissioners
held in accordance with the Government Code (Brown Act) after the end of the State-
declared emergency on February 28, 2023.

Issued By: City Manager’s Office
Date: February 14, 2023

Vaccination Status
All attendees are encouraged to be fully up to date on their vaccinations,
including any boosters for which they are eligible.

Health Status Precautions

For members of the public who are feeling sick, including but not limited to
cough, shortness of breath or difficulty breathing, fever or chills, muscle or body
aches, vomiting or diarrhea, or new loss of taste or smell, it is recommended that
they do not attend the meeting in-person as a public health precaution. In these
cases, the public may submit comments in writing in lieu of attending in-person.

If an in-person attendee has been in close contact, as defined below, with a
person who has tested positive for COVID-19 in the past five days, they are
advised to wear a well-fitting mask (N95s, KN95s, KF94s are best), test for
COVID-19 3-5 days from last exposure, and consider submitting comments in
writing in lieu of attending in-person.

Close contact is defined as someone sharing the same indoor airspace, e.g.,
home, clinic waiting room, airplane, etc., for a cumulative total of 15 minutes or
more over a 24-hour period within 2 days before symptoms of the infected
person appear (or before a positive test for asymptomatic individuals); or having
contact with COVID-19 droplets (e.g., being coughed on while not wearing
recommended personal protective equipment).

A voluntary sign-in sheet will be available at the meeting entry for in-person
attendees. This will assist with contact tracing in case of COVID-19 contact
resulting from the meeting.

Members of City Commissions are encouraged to take a rapid COVID-19 test on
the day of the meeting.



VI.

VII.

Health and Safety Protocols for In-Person Meetings of
Berkeley Boards and Commissions
February 2023

Face Coverings/Mask

Face coverings or masks that cover both the nose and mouth are encouraged for
all commissioners, staff, and attendees at an in-person City Commission
meeting. Face coverings will be provided by the City and available for attendees
to use at the meeting. Members of Commissions, city staff, and the public are
encouraged to wear a mask at all times, except when speaking publicly from the
dais or at the public comment podium, although masking is encouraged even
when speaking.

Physical Distancing

Currently, there are no physical distancing requirements in place by the State of
California or the Local Health Officer for an indoor event similar to a Commission
meeting.

Audience seating capacity will be at regular allowable levels per the Fire Code.
Capacity limits will be posted at the meeting location. However, all attendees are
requested to be respectful of the personal space of other attendees. An area of
the public seating area will be designated as “distanced seating” to
accommodate persons that need to distance for personal health reasons.

Distancing will be implemented for the dais as space allows.

Protocols for Teleconference Participation by Commissioners
Upon the repeal of the state-declared emergency, all standard Brown Act
requirements will be in effect for Commissioners participating remotely due to an
approved ADA accommodation. For Commissioners participating remotely, the
agenda must be posted at the remote location, the remote location must be
accessible to the public, and the public must be able to participate and give
public comment from the remote location.
¢ A Commissioner at a remote location will follow the same health and safety
protocols as in-person meetings.
e A Commissioner at a remote location may impose reasonable capacity
limits at their location.

Hand Washing/Sanitizing
Hand sanitizing stations are available at the meeting locations. The bathrooms
have soap and water for handwashing.

Air Flow/Circulation/Sanitizing
Air filtration devices are used at all meeting locations. Window ventilation may be
used if weather conditions allow.



ITEM 2

SEPTEMBER 25, 2024 PAB REGULAR MEETING AGENDA




Public
1

CITY ©F

»

>
on
X
L

m

POLICE ACCOUNTABIEITY BOARD

POLICE ACCOUNTABILITY BOARD
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA
WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 25, 2024
6:30 P.M.

Board Members

John Moore Il (Chair) Leah Wilson (Vice-Chair)
Kitty Calavita Juliet Leftwich
Brent Blackaby Joshua Cayetano

Alexander Mozes David Williams

MEETING LOCATION

2020 Milvia Street, Suite 250
Berkeley, CA 94704

PUBLIC NOTICE

To access the meeting remotely: join from a PC, Mac, iPad, iPhone, or Android device
using this URL: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82653396072. If you do not wish for your
name to appear on the screen, use the drop-down menu and click on “rename” to rename
yourself to be anonymous. To request to speak, use the “raise hand” icon on the screen.
To join by phone: Dial 1 669 900 6833 and enter Meeting ID 826 5339 6072. If you wish
to comment during the public comment portion of the agenda, press *9 and wait to be
recognized.

PAB September 25, 2024 Regular Meeting

5



Public
2

LAND ACKNOWLEDGMENT

The City of Berkeley recognizes that the community we live in was built on the territory of
xu€yun (Huchiun (Hooch-yoon)), the ancestral and unceded land of the Chochenyo
(Chochen-yo)-speaking Ohlone (Oh-low-nee) people, the ancestors and descendants of
the sovereign Verona Band of Alameda County. This land was and continues to be of
great importance to all of the Ohlone Tribes and descendants of the Verona Band. As we
begin our meeting tonight, we acknowledge and honor the original inhabitants of
Berkeley, the documented 5,000-year history of a vibrant community at the West Berkeley
Shellmound, and the Ohlone people who continue to reside in the East Bay. We recognize
that Berkeley’s residents have and continue to benefit from the use and occupation of this
unceded stolen land since the City of Berkeley’s incorporation in 1878. As stewards of
the laws regulating the City of Berkeley, it is not only vital that we recognize the history of
this land, but also recognize that the Ohlone people are present members of Berkeley
and other East Bay communities today.

AGENDA
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL (2 MINUTES)
2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA (2 MINUTES)
3. PUBLIC COMMENT (TBD)

Speakers are generally allotted up to three minutes, but may be allotted less time if there
are many speakers; they may comment on any matter within the Board'’s jurisdiction at

this time, except confidential personnel matters.

4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES (5 MINUTES)
a. Minutes for the Regular Meeting of September 11, 2024
5. ODPA STAFF REPORT (10 MINUTES)

Announcements, updates, and other items.

e NACOLE election Information & Resources?
6. CHAIR AND BOARD MEMBERS’ REPORTS (10 MINUTEYS)

Announcements, updates, and other items.

7. CHIEF OF POLICE’S REPORT (10 MINUTES)

! https://www.nacole.org/nacole election information

PAB September 25, 2024 Regular Meeting

6


https://www.nacole.org/nacole_election_information
https://www.nacole.org/nacole_election_information

Public
3

Crime/cases of interest, community engagement/department events, staffing, training,

and other items of interest.

8. SUBCOMMITTEE REPORTS (10 MINUTES)

Report of activities and meeting schedule for all subcommittees, possible appointment or

reassignment of members to subcommittees, and additional discussion and action as

warranted for the subcommittees listed on the PAB’s Subcommittee List included in the

agenda packet.

9. NEW BUSINESS (1 HOUR 22 MINUTES)

a.
b.

PAB

BPD Presentation on ABLE Training (ODPA) — (10 Minutes)
Discussion and action regarding the presentation of ODPA Police Reviews
(ODPA) — (30 Minutes)
i. 2023-PR-0001 (15 Minutes)
li. 2023-PR-0002 (15 Minutes)
Discussion and action regarding the Citygate Associates, LLC Workload
Organizational Study of the Berkeley Police Department and the PAB’s
potential response to the report (ODPA) — (15 Minutes)
Discussion and action on the Budget & Metrics Subcommittee’s proposed PAB
metrics (15 Minutes) — (Blackaby & Wilson)
Discussion and action regarding the appointment of Board Members to present
PAB reports to the City Council (ODPA) - (5 Minutes)
I. “Berkeley Police Department Texting Offenses: An Independent
Investigation by the Police Accountability Board” set for October 1, 2024
ii. “Police Accountability Board Report: Fair and Impartial Implementation”
set for October 15, 2024
Discussion and action on the proposal to relocate the PAB’s regular meetings
back to the North Berkeley Senior Center (Leftwich) — (5 Minutes)
Assign a delegate for NACOLE 2024 Conference Elections (ODPA) - (2
Minutes)

September 25, 2024 Regular Meeting
7



Public
4

10.PUBLIC COMMENT (TBD)

Speakers are generally allotted up to three minutes, but may be allotted less time if there
are many speakers; they may comment on any matter within the Board’s jurisdiction at

this time, except confidential personnel matters.

11.CLOSED SESSION

CLOSED SESSION ITEMS

Pursuant to the Court’s order in Berkeley Police Association v. City of Berkeley, et al.,
Alameda County Superior Court Case No. 2002-057569, the Board will recess into

closed session to discuss and act on the following matter(s):

a. Case Updates and Recommendations Regarding Complaints Received by the

ODPA:
I. 2023-CI-0016 V. 2024-CI-0010
il. 2024-CI-0003 V. 2024-CI-0012
iii. 2024-CI-0004 Vi. 2024-CI-0025

END OF CLOSED SESSION

12. ANNOUNCEMENT OF CLOSED SESSION ACTIONS (1 MINUTE)
13.ADJOURNMENT (1 MINUTE)

Off Agenda Reports

1. Legislative Updates Relevant to the PAB’s Work

PAB September 25, 2024 Regular Meeting

8



Public
5

Communications Disclaimer

Communications to the Police Accountability Board, like all communications to Berkeley
boards, commissions, or committees, are public records and will become part of the
City’s electronic records, which are accessible through the City’s website. Please note:
e-mail addresses, names, addresses, and other contact information are not required, but
if included in any communication to a City board, commission, or committee, will become
part of the public record. If you do not want your e-mail address or any other contact
information to be made public, you may deliver communications via U.S. Postal Service
or in person to the Board Secretary. If you do not want your contact information included
in the public record, do not include that information in your communication. Please
contact the Board Secretary for further information.

Communication Access Information (A.R. 1.12)

To request a disability-related accommodation(s) to participate in the meeting, including
auxiliary aids or services, please contact the Disability Services specialist at 981-6418
(V) or 981-6347 (TDD) at least three business days before the meeting date.

SB 343 Disclaimer

Any writings or documents provided to a majority of the Board regarding any item on this
agenda will be made available for public inspection at the Office of the Director of Police
Accountability, located at 1947 Center Street, 5th Floor, Berkeley, CA.

Contact the Director of Police Accountability (Board Secretary) at:
1947 Center Street, 5" Floor, Berkeley, CA 94704
TEL: 510-981-4950 TDD: 510-981-6903 FAX: 510-981-4955

Website: https://berkeleyca.gov/safety-health/police-accountability

Email: dpa@berkeleyca.gov

NOTICE OF TEMPORARY LOCATION

Please note that the ODPA is currently operating from a temporary location at 2020
Milvia Street, Suite 250, Berkeley, CA. For in-person visits, appointments are strongly
encouraged and can be made by calling our main line. Mail can still be received at
1947 Center Street.

PAB September 25, 2024 Regular Meeting

9


mailto:dpa@berkeleyca.gov
mailto:dpa@berkeleyca.gov

ITEM 4

MINUTES FOR THE REGULAR MEETING OF SEPTEMBER 11, 2024

10




Public
1

' CITY ©F
-

>
m
X
I'I'l
—

m

POLICE ACCOUNTABIEITY BOARD

POLICE ACCOUNTABILITY BOARD
REGULAR MEETING MINUTES
WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024
6:30 P.M.

Board Members

John Moore Il (Chair) Leah Wilson (Vice-Chair)
Kitty Calavita Juliet Leftwich
Brent Blackaby Joshua Cayetano

Alexander Mozes David Williams

MEETING LOCATION

2020 Milvia Street, Suite 250
Berkeley, CA 94704

Meeting Recording: https://youtu.be/NvJujekyglL w?si=H5pKLTm3sDXqwzdo

MINUTES
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL

Present: Board Member John Moore (Chair)
Board Member Leah Wilson (Vice-Chair)
Board Member Brent Blackaby
Board Member Kitty Calavita
Board Member Joshua Cayetano
Board Member Juliet Leftwich
Board Member Alexander Mozes
Board Member David Williams
Absent: None.
ODPA Staff: Hansel Aguilar, Director of Police Accountability
Jose Murillo, Policy Analyst
Jayson Wechter, Investigator
Keegan Horton, Investigator
Dr. Dela Morris, Administrative Analyst

PAB September 11, 2024 Regular Meeting
11


https://youtu.be/NvJujekygLw?si=H5pKLTm3sDXqwzdo
https://youtu.be/NvJujekygLw?si=H5pKLTm3sDXqwzdo

Public

2
BPD Staff: Deputy Chief Tate
Lt. Montgomery
CAO Staff: DCA Hylas
CMO Staff: Dr. Carianna Arredondo, Assistant to the City Manager

Rex Brown, DEI Officer
2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

Motion to approve the agenda.

Moved/Second (Calavita/Blackaby) Motion carried.

Ayes: Blackaby, Calavita, Cayetano, Leftwich, Mozes, Moore, Wilson, and Williams
Noes: None. Abstain: None. Absent: None.

3. PUBLIC COMMENT

0 Physical Present Speaker(s)
0 Virtually Present Speaker(s)
4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES

a. Minutes for the Regular Meeting of July 24, 2024
Motion to approve the Regular Meeting of July 24, 2024
Moved/Second (Leftwich/Calavita) Motion carried.

Ayes: Blackaby, Calavita, Cayetano, Leftwich, Mozes, Moore, Wilson, and Williams
Noes: None. Abstain: None. Absent: None.

5. ODPA STAFF REPORT

Director Aguilar provided updates on staffing, the ODPA’s new office location, Use of
Force Community input sessions, participation at the NOBLE conference, and upcoming
reports to the City Council. He also brings to the PAB's attention the BART Office of the
Independent Police Auditor’'s (OIPA) efforts for greater independence and their call for

community support.’

Dr. Arredondo updated the PAB on the Fall 2024 Reimagine Safety Report, set for
October 29 at a special meeting. She also noted the SCU assessment won’t be complete

until Spring 2025. Community members can now review Task Force archives?.

1 Sample letter provided by BART OIPA: https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/legislative-body-meeting-
attachments/Support%200f%2001PA%20Motion%20Letter%20Final.pdf

2 Reimaging Public Safety Task Force Reports: https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/boards-
commissions/reimagining-public-safety-task-force

PAB September 11, 2024 Regular Meeting
12


https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/legislative-body-meeting-attachments/Support%20of%20OIPA%20Motion%20Letter%20Final.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/legislative-body-meeting-attachments/Support%20of%20OIPA%20Motion%20Letter%20Final.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/legislative-body-meeting-attachments/Support%20of%20OIPA%20Motion%20Letter%20Final.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/legislative-body-meeting-attachments/Support%20of%20OIPA%20Motion%20Letter%20Final.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/boards-commissions/reimagining-public-safety-task-force
https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/boards-commissions/reimagining-public-safety-task-force
https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/boards-commissions/reimagining-public-safety-task-force
https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/boards-commissions/reimagining-public-safety-task-force

Public
3

DEI Officer Brown will meet with the new city manager next week, and the DEI webpage

is being updated with liaison contacts.
6. CHAIR AND BOARD MEMBERS’ REPORTS

Chair Moore informed the Board that he and Director Aguilar attended the NOBLE
Conference, gaining valuable insights and meeting the creators of ABLE. He committed
to keeping the Board informed about ABLE and ensuring Berkeley's representation at

future conferences.
7. CHIEF OF POLICE’S REPOR

Deputy Chief Tate reports on notable crimes, cases, and other items of interest to the

PAB, and addresses their questions.
8. SUBCOMMITTEE REPORTS

Subcommittees report on their activities, including updates from the Fair and Impartial

Policing, Policies and Practices, Policy Review, and Budget and Metrics subcommittees.

9. NEW BUSINESS

a. Discussion and action on the status of the PAB and ODPA Regulations for
Handling Investigations and Complaints (Calavita)

Motion to consider alternates for conflict of interest complaints during a hearing
or immediately following a hearing for Board members that may have financial or
personal connections to a complainant.

Moved/Second (Calavita/Blackaby) Motion Withdrawn after deliberation.

b. Discussion and action on the Operation and Processes Subcommittee’s
recommendations for changes in the PAB’s Policy Review Process (Wilson)

No action taken.
c. Discussion and action regarding the 2025 PAB Strategic Planning Session

(ODPA)

No action taken.

PAB September 11, 2024 Regular Meeting
13



Public
4

d. Discussion and action regarding Citygate Associates, LLC Workload
Organizational Study of the Berkeley Police Department® (ODPA)
No action taken. ODPA staff to provide additional analysis.

e. Discussion and action regarding the City Manager’s Off-Agenda Reports to City
Council*:
i. City Manager Report: Specialized Care Unit (SCU) Program Update
(ODPA

No action taken.

i. City Manager Report: Fixed Automated License Plate Reader
Deployment Plan (ODPA

No action taken.

10.PUBLIC COMMENT

0 Physical Present Speaker(s)
0 Virtually Present Speaker(s)
11.CLOSED SESSION

CLOSED SESSION ITEMS

Pursuant to the Court’s order in Berkeley Police Association v. City of Berkeley, et al.,
Alameda County Superior Court Case No. 2002-057569, the Board will recess into

closed session to discuss and act on the following matter(s):

a. Case Updates and Recommendations Regarding Complaints Received by the

ODPA:
I 2023-CI-0012 V. 2024-CI-0004
i. 2023-Cl-0014 Vi. 2024-CI-0009
iif. 2023-CI-0016 vii.  2024-CI-0011
iv. 2024-CI-0003 vii.  2024-Cl-0012

3 To read the full report, please visit:
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/Berkeley%20Workload%200rganizational%20Study%200f%
20the%20Police%20Department%20%2809-04-24%29.pdf

4 This item is submitted for the full Board's consideration, should they decide to convey their position to the
Council via a letter, in accordance with Section VI.C.1. of the Berkeley Commissioner’s Manual. These reports
discuss matters that are relevant to the Board and directly connected to ongoing discussions or previous
recommendations.

PAB September 11, 2024 Regular Meeting
14


https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/Berkeley%20Workload%20Organizational%20Study%20of%20the%20Police%20Department%20%2809-04-24%29.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/Berkeley%20Workload%20Organizational%20Study%20of%20the%20Police%20Department%20%2809-04-24%29.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/Berkeley%20Workload%20Organizational%20Study%20of%20the%20Police%20Department%20%2809-04-24%29.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/Berkeley%20Workload%20Organizational%20Study%20of%20the%20Police%20Department%20%2809-04-24%29.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-03/Commissioners-Manual.pdf#Page=74
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-03/Commissioners-Manual.pdf#Page=74

Public
5

Motion to accept staff recommendations in ODPA Case 2024-CI-0011.
Moved/Second (Wilson/Mozes) Motion carried.
Ayes: Blackaby, Calavita, Cayetano, Leftwich, Mozes, Moore, Wilson, and Williams

Noes: None. Abstain: None. Absent: None.

END OF CLOSED SESSION

12. ANNOUNCEMENT OF CLOSED SESSION ACTIONS
Chair Moore announces the closed session actions.
13.ADJOURNMENT

Motion to adjourn. Moved/Second (Wilson/Leftwich) The meeting was adjourned at 9:16

PM by unanimous consent.

PAB September 11, 2024 Regular Meeting

15



ITEM 8

LIST OF PAB SUBCOMMITTEES

16




Updated on 9/5/2024

 CITY ©F

>

>
m
X
AL

m

POLICE ACCOUNTABILITY BOARD

SUBCOMMITTEES LIST

Subcommittee Board Members

Regulations Calavita N/A Lt. Dan Montgomery
Formed 7-7-21 Leftwich

Renewed 6-7-2023
Public members:

Kitt Saginor
Fair & Impartial Policing Calavita Calavita Sgt. Peter Lee
Implementation Wilson
Formed 8-4-21
Renewed 6-7-2023 Public members:
George Lippman
Surveillance Technology Calavita N/A N/A
Policy Moore
Formed 6-7-2023
Policy and Practices Calavita Calavita N/A
relating to the Downtown Moore
Task Force and Bike Unit
Allegations
Formed 11-15-22
Body-Worn Camera Policy Leftwich Leftwich Cpt. Okies
Formed 03-15-23 Cayetano Lt. Cummings
Conflict of Interest Leftwich Leftwich N/A
Formed 03-29-23 Wilson
Unnamed - Policy Wilson Wilson N/A
Complaint 2023-PR-0003 [Vacant]

Formed June 21, 2023

Page 1 of 2

17




Updated on 9/5/2024

Policy Reviews Leftwich Leftwich Deputy Chief Tate
Formed 11-08-2023 Cayetano Sgt. Speelman
Scope Expanded 03-02- Mozes
2024
Formally “Lexipol Review” Public members:
Kitt Saginor
Budget & Metrics Wilson N/A N/A
Formed 11-08-2023 Blackaby
Scope Expanded 03-02-
2024
Outreach & Engagement Moore N/A N/A
Formed 11-08-2023 Blackaby
Scope Expanded 03-02-
2024
Formally “Commendations”
Off-Duty Conduct Cayetano N/A Lt. Rittenhouse
Leftwich
Operations & Processes Wilson TBD TBD
Formed 03-02-2024 Mozes
LIAISON LIST'
Liaison Name | Assignment |
Cayetano Represent the PAB in the EIS Request for Proposal Process

POLICY COMPLAINTS ASSIGNED TO INDIVIDUAL BOARD MEMBERS?

Policy Review Number
2023-PR-0006

Assigned Board Member
Chair Moore

2024-PR-0003

Chair Moore

' Liaison list does not include topics that were originally assigned to a Board Member but later assigned to

a subcommittee.

2 This list does not include policy complaints that were originally assigned to an individual Board Member

but later assigned to a subcommittee.

Page 2 of 2

18




Iltem 9.b.i

Policy Review Report 2023-PR-0001

19




POLICY REVIEW REPORT

ODPA No. 2023-PR-0001

Prepared by:

Office of the Director of
Police Accountability

Presented to the PAB on

September 25, 2024

20



/ CITY °F

.

MAYOR
Jesse Arreguin

CITY COUNCIL
Rashi Kesarwani, District 1 Sophie Hahn, District 5
Terry Taplin, District 2 Susan Wengraf, District 6
Ben Bartlett, District 3 Cecilia Lunaparra, District 7
Igor Tregub, District 4 Mark Humbert, District 8
City Manager Berkeley Police Department
Paul Buddenhagen, City Manager Jennifer Louis, Chief of Police

POLICE ACCOUNTABILITY BOARD (PAB) MEMBERS
John “Chip” Moore, Chair
Leah Wilson, Vice-Chair

Brent Blackaby
Kitty Calavita

Joshua Cayetano
Juliet Leftwich

Alexander Mozes
David Williams

OFFICE OF THE DIRECTOR OF POLICE ACCOUNTABILITY (ODPA) STAFF
Hansel Alejandro Aguilar, Director of Police Accountability
Jose De Jesus Murillo, Policy Analyst
Jayson Wechter, Investigator
Keegan Horton, Investigator
Melanie E. Beasley, Administrative Analyst
Lucky, Therapy Animal

21



Table of Contents

EXECULIVE SUIMIMATY: 1..uiiiiiiieeeeieie e e e et e e e et e e e e et e e e e eaa e e e eeasa e e e eess e eeeessneeeeesnneeeensnnnnns 3
5318 (016 L Te1 3T ) o R 3
BaCKZIOUNG ...t e e e e e e e e e eaaee 3

(@ o) 115 APPSR 4

1Y (5134 1o 1o 10y PSRRI 4
Literature Review: from local to national ... 4
318 4] () .4 013 3 1 S 4
CalifOTNIA EXPEIICTICE ... eeetueeetieeeeteeeeteeeeteeeaneeeaaeeeaneeeaneeesneeennseeennaeeesnaeeennaeesnnaeennnnaes 5
NAtioNAl JANASCAPE ....eeeeeiie et e e e et e e e e e e e e e et e e e e e e anan s 6
National Association for Civilian Oversight of Law Enforcement (NACOLE) .................. 6
International Association of Chiefs 0f Police (IACP)....cc.uoivieiiiiiiiiiieeceeeeeeee e 6
U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ).....uuuiiiiiiiiiieiiiie e 7
POLICY OVEIVIEW ...eeettiee ettt ettt e ettt e e e et e e e e et e e e e et e e e e eas e e e e eas e e e eesnneeeeennneeeensnnnnns 7
California GoOvernment COAE..........iiiiiuuiieiiie et e e e e e e e e e eeneas 7
Berkeley Charter SeCtion 125: ...ouuniiri e e e e e e e e e e e eaa e eens 8
PAB and ODPA Interim Regulations:........ccouuuiiiiiimiiiiiiiiie e 8
Berkeley Police Association (BPA) Memorandum of Understanding (MOU): ...................... 9
|27 5 D I8 o0 103 (<SPPSR 9
1010 “Personnel Complaints™: ......coeuuieeeieeiiie e e e e e e e e e e e e eaneeeennas 9
1034 “Complaint Review Board™: .........c..iiiiiiiiiiiieie e 9

816 13T P 10
Officer Unavailability: ......c.uuiiiiiiiie et e e et e e e et e e e e e e e e eeennneaeees 10
Board of Review and BPD Policy 1034: ........uiiiiiiiieieeiiiee et eenean 10
Workload and Resource Constraints (BPD, ODPA, and PAB): .....ccovvviiiiiiiiiiieiieiieeeeee, 10
Procedural TImMEIINES: .....ceeeeueeiiiee ettt e e et e e e e e e e e eann e e eas 11
Government Code and Tolling ProviSIOns: ..........cocueeeeeiuuiiiieee et 11

F N G 0 (PP 11
ReCOMMENAALIONS: ...ttt e e e e e e et et e e e e e e e e e e e nann e e eeas 12
Amend BPD Policy 1010.7.3 “Investigation Within the DiviSion”............cceeeeveeiiienninnnennn. 12
Revise BPD Policy 1034 “Complaint Review Board™: ..............cooviiiiiiiiiiiiiie e, 12
Amend Berkeley City Charter for Investigation and Discipline Timeframe:........................ 12

22



Improve Communication ProtoCols: ........oouuuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e 13

Increase ODPA and PAB ReESOUICES: .......uiiiiuuiiiiiiiiieiiiiii ettt e e 13
(010) 1162 11 ] T ) 1 PP 13
LA N 1S oL PP 14
2SS £S5 (<3 11T PP 16
2] £ 16
GOVEINMENt TEZUIATIONS ...t e e ettt sttt e e e e ettt e e e e e et e et e e e e e e e e nnene e e e e aeeennens 16
APPENAICES ettt e e e e e e e e e e e et e e e e e et e et et e tererereneenees 17
Appendix A- Amended Policy COMPIAINt ........ccevevureiiiieeeieiiiiiiee e 17
Appendix B- Original Policy Complaint ..........cccoeuueuiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e 22
Appendix C- Memorandum by Maddie Driscoll, Berkeley Law Police Review Project........ 26
2|Page

23




Executive Summary:

This report provides an assessment of the Complainant’s request for a policy review
regarding officer unavailability during scheduled Police Accountability Board (PAB) hearings.
The evaluation includes a thorough review of the Berkeley City Charter, Berkeley Police
Department (BPD) Policies 1010 and 1034, PAB Interim Regulations, and the Berkeley Workload
Organizational Study, as well as relevant civilian oversight literature, to ensure that the assessment
is consistent with established policy and procedural guidelines.

The findings indicate that the delays in Complainant’s case were primarily due to
operational challenges rather than policy deficiencies. However, this report notes that BPD Policy
1010 lacks provisions requiring officers to prioritize participation in PAB hearings, which could
potentially contribute to scheduling conflicts and delays in the complaint resolution process.
Additionally, BPD Policy 1034, which governs internal review mechanisms, is not fully aligned
with external oversight procedures, further complicating the coordination between the internal
Complaint Review Board and the PAB.

The report also highlights the resource constraints faced by both the Office of the Director
of Police Accountability (ODPA) and the PAB, which have been exacerbated by the transition
from the Police Review Commission (PRC) to the current civilian oversight structure under
Measure II. While some progress has been made, such as securing funding for an additional
investigator, the workload continues to strain available resources, leading to delays in scheduling
hearings and processing complaints.

To address these challenges, the report recommends amending the Berkeley City Charter
to extend the investigation and discipline timeframe to 365 days, consistent with the California
Government Code and other oversight agencies. This would require a Charter amendment and a
meet and confer process with the Berkeley Police Association (BPA) to update the existing
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU). Additionally, improving scheduling protocols,
enhancing communication tools, and increasing resource allocation for the ODPA and PAB are
critical steps to streamline operations and ensure timely resolutions of complaints.

By implementing these recommendations, the City of Berkeley can strengthen its police
oversight mechanisms, ensuring that both officers and complainants receive fair and timely
outcomes, while restoring public confidence in the accountability process.

Introduction

Background

Complainant’s original complaint stems from an incident where she alleged mistreatment
by Berkeley Police Department (BPD) officers, which led her to seek recourse through ODPA and
the Police Accountability Board (PAB). However, due to a series of delays—both within the PAB
and BPD—the case was not heard in time, and the statutory deadline expired.

On February 14, 2023, Complainant filed a policy complaint (see Appendix A- Amended
Policy Complaint) after the PAB failed to schedule a hearing within the statutory limits due to
officer unavailability and staffing changes. This report evaluates the complaint within the
framework of BPD Policies 1010 and 1034, the PAB’s interim regulations, and relevant Berkeley
Charter sections.

3|Page

24




Objectives

Section 125(17)(A) of the Berkeley City Charter states that the PAB “may review policies,
practices, and procedures of the Police Department in its discretion or at the request of a member
of the public, due to a policy complaint, or due to a complaint from a member of the public against
a police officer.”!

The objectives of this policy review are:

1. To assess the procedural inefficiencies in Complainant’s case.

2. To evaluate BPD policies and PAB procedures.

3. To recommend amendments that enhance officer availability and prevent future
delays.

Methodology
This report included a content review of the following regulations:

e Review of BPD Policies 1010 and 1034
e Review of the Police Accountability Board's Interim Regulations.

o Evaluation of relevant documents including the Berkeley Charter, Berkeley Police
Workload Organizational Study, NACOLE civilian oversight reports, and California
Government Code Section 3304.

e Analysis of policy gaps related to officer availability and complaint resolution timelines.
Additionally, it was complemented by literature review on topics of relevance to include:

e Police accountability,

o BPD workload study report, and

o National standards and guidelines on effective police practices

Literature Review: from local to national

Berkeley experience

Since the restructuring of the civilian oversight system from the Police Review
Commission (PRC) to the PAB and the ODPA through Measure 11, the workload and complexity
of oversight tasks have increased significantly. The new structure aims to strengthen accountability
mechanisms, but it has also created substantial operational challenges. The expanded scope of
responsibilities for both the ODPA and the PAB necessitates more resources to effectively manage
complaints, conduct investigations, and schedule oversight hearings in a timely manner.

Over the past two years, the ODPA has consistently requested to the Berkeley City Council
additional resources to support its work, and while some requests have been met, more is still
required. For example, since the filing of the current complaint, the ODPA has secured additional
funding to hire an investigator, which has alleviated some of the pressure on the investigative unit.
This additional capacity allows for a more manageable workload, ensuring that investigations

! Berkeley City Charter Section 125(17)(A):

4|Page

25



https://berkeley.municipal.codes/Charter/125(17)(a)
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/Charter/125(17)(a)

proceed without undue delay. However, despite this progress, the increased volume of complaints
and the complexity of the cases that the PAB must address continue to strain the available resources
(ODPA Memo- Budget Requests for ODPA-PAB Operations for FY 2025-2026).

One logistical challenge that has exacerbated delays is the lack of tolling provisions during
the transition from the previous oversight model to the current one. There was no pause or freeze
on the cases during the organizational restructuring, which led to backlogs and delays in case
processing. Furthermore, during the pendency of some investigations, the ODPA investigator was
on leave, and without applicable tolling provisions, investigations were further delayed. These
gaps in the oversight framework highlight the need for additional administrative and operational
support to ensure that complaints and investigations are handled efficiently and fairly (ODPA
Memo- Budget Requests for ODPA-PAB Operations for FY 2025-2026).

To address these ongoing challenges, the ODPA has submitted a request for additional
resources to the Berkeley City Council, including increased personnel and operational support.
This includes funding for more administrative staff to handle the workload and streamline the
investigative processes, as well as technology enhancements to support case management and
scheduling. These measures are essential to improving the responsiveness of the PAB and ODPA,
ensuring that they can meet their mandate to provide timely oversight of the BPD while
maintaining public trust in the process (ODPA Me